



Not Just an Ache: Examining the Rate of Musculoskeletal Pain in City Bus Drivers

Jeremy Steele



MINETA TRANSPORTATION INSTITUTE

transweb.sjsu.edu

MINETA TRANSPORTATION INSTITUTE LEAD UNIVERSITY OF

Mineta Consortium for Transportation Mobility

Founded in 1991, the Mineta Transportation Institute (MTI), an organized research and training unit in partnership with the Lucas College and Graduate School of Business at San José State University (SJSU), increases mobility for all by improving the safety, efficiency, accessibility, and convenience of our nation's transportation system. Through research, education, workforce development, and technology transfer, we help create a connected world. MTI leads the four-university Mineta Consortium for Transportation Mobility, a Tier I University Transportation Center funded by the U.S. Department of Transportation's Office of the Assistant Secretary for Research and Technology (OST-R), the California Department of Transportation (Caltrans), and by private grants and donations.

MTI's transportation policy work is centered on three primary responsibilities:

Research

MTI works to provide policy-oriented research for all levels of government and the private sector to foster the development of optimum surface transportation systems. Research areas include: bicycle and pedestrian issues; financing public and private sector transportation improvements; intermodal connectivity and integration; safety and security of transportation systems; sustainability of transportation systems; transportation / land use / environment; and transportation planning and policy development. Certified Research Associates conduct the research. Certification requires an advanced degree, generally a Ph.D., a record of academic publications, and professional references. Research projects culminate in a peer-reviewed publication, available on TransWeb, the MTI website (http://transweb.sjsu.edu).

Education

The Institute supports education programs for students seeking a career in the development and operation of surface transportation systems. MTI, through San José State University, offers an AACSB-accredited Master of Science in Transportation Management and graduate certificates in Transportation Management, Transportation Security, and High-Speed Rail Management that serve to prepare the nation's transportation managers for the 21st century. With the

active assistance of the California Department of Transportation (Caltrans), MTI delivers its classes over a state-of-the-art videoconference network throughout the state of California and via webcasting beyond, allowing working transportation professionals to pursue an advanced degree regardless of their location. To meet the needs of employers seeking a diverse workforce, MTI's education program promotes enrollment to under-represented groups.

Information and Technology Transfer

MTI utilizes a diverse array of dissemination methods and media to ensure research results reach those responsible for managing change. These methods include publication, seminars, workshops, websites, social media, webinars, and other technology transfer mechanisms. Additionally, MTI promotes the availability of completed research to professional organizations and journals and works to integrate the research findings into the graduate education program. MTI's extensive collection of transportation- related publications is integrated into San José State University's world-class Martin Luther King, Jr. Library.

Disclaimer

The contents of this report reflect the views of the authors, who are responsible for the facts and accuracy of the information presented herein. This document is disseminated in the interest of information exchange. The report is funded, partially or entirely, by a grant from the U.S. Department of Transportation's University Transportation Centers Program. This report does not necessarily reflect the official views or policies of the U.S. government, State of California, or the Mineta Transportation Institute, who assume no liability for the contents or use thereof. This report does not constitute a standard specification, design standard, or regulation.

REPORT WP 18-11

NOT JUST AN ACHE: EXAMINING THE RATE OF MUSCULOSKELETAL PAIN IN CITY BUS DRIVERS

Jeremy Steele

November 2018

A publication of **Mineta Transportation Institute** Created by Congress in 1991

College of Business San José State University San José, CA 95192-0219

TECHNICAL REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE

| 1. Report No. WP 18-11 | 2. Government Accession No. | 3. Recipient's Cata | alog No. | |
|---|---|---|--------------------|--|
| Title and Subtitle Not Just an Ache: Examining the Rate of | of Musculoskeletal Pain in City Bus Drivers | 5. Report Date November 2018 | | |
| | 6. Performing Org | anization Code | | |
| 7. Authors Jeremy Steele, https://orcid.org/0000-0 | 002-4226-9134 | 8. Performing Org CA-MTI-1892 | anization Report | |
| 9. Performing Organization Name and A Mineta Transportation Institute | Address | 10. Work Unit No. | | |
| College of Business San José State University San José, CA 95192-0219 | | 11. Contract or Gra 69A3551747127 | nt No. | |
| 12. Sponsoring Agency Name and Addree U.S. Department of Transportation | 255 | 13. Type of Report a Final Report | and Period Covered | |
| Research and Technology University Transportation Centers Prog 1200 New Jersey Avenue, SE Washington, DC 20590 | ram | 14. Sponsoring Age | ∍ncy Code | |
| 15. Supplemental Notes | | | | |
| 16. Abstract This paper examines the rates of musculoskeletal discomfort in a sample of 957 city bus drivers at King County Metro, a public transportation agency serving the greater Seattle area. It also examines how often such pain prevented drivers from doing their normal work, needed treatment from a medical professional, or incited one or more worker's compensation claims. To assess the level of musculoskeletal discomfort in city bus drivers, an anonymous survey was distributed to drivers at King County Metro, a public transportation agency serving the greater Seattle area. This survey consisted of a Nordic Questionnaire asking for basic information such as age, hours per week worked, and gender. The results of the survey demonstrate that bus drivers experience very high rates of musculoskeletal pain, with 85% of respondents indicating pain in at least one area o the body. Comparisons to CDC data show higher rates of pain across all areas of the body then their male and part-time counterparts, while variables such as BMI and age showed less influence. Rates of pain in the lower back, shoulders, and knee: were especially elevated. Of those experiencing pain in at least one area of the body, more than 50% were prevented from doing their normal work and visited a medical professional. For all drivers' experiencing pain, there were large gaps in the rates or medical visits and worker's compensation claims. Policy recommendations include the provision of active-suspension seats in the agency's fleet of buses and better placement of key controls in the drivers' workstation, two gals potentially attainable throug increased participation of drivers in the bus-procurement process. The role of different route types, stop placement patterns, and road surfaces in addressing rates of musculoskeletal pain in bus drivers' workstation. | | | | |
| 17. Key Words Musculoskeletal system; bus drivers; questionnaires; bus driving; injury rates | ving; 18. Distribution Statement No restrictions. This document is available to the public through The National Technical Information Service, Springfield, VA 22161 | | | |
| 19. Security Classif. (of this report) Unclassified | 21. No. of Pages 37 | 22. Price | | |

Copyright © 2018 by **Mineta Transportation Institute** All rights reserved

> Mineta Transportation Institute College of Business San José State University San José, CA 95192-0219

Tel: (408) 924-7560 Fax: (408) 924-7565 Email: mineta-institute@sjsu.edu

transweb.sjsu.edu

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The author thanks Amalgamated Transit Union--including Brian Sherlock and Ed Watt-and the MTI staff for their generous and continued support in producing this report.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| Executive Summary | 1 |
|--|-----------------------------|
| I. Introduction | 2 |
| II. Literature Review Musculoskeletal Pain Other Health Issues Implications for Agencies | 3 3 4 5 |
| III. Methodology | 7 |
| IV. Results Response Rates and Demographics Rates of Musculoskeletal Pain Rates of Work Prevention and Medical Visits/Worker's Compensation | 8 8 9 16 |
| V. Discussion Large Disparities in Rates of Musculoskeletal Discomfort Large Differences Between Work Prevention and Medical Visits/Worker's Compensation Claims | 18 18 21 |
| VI. Conclusions and Further Research Key Findings Limitations and Recommendations for Further Research Policy Implications | 22 22 22 23 |
| Appendix A: Survey Questionnaire | 25 |
| Endnotes | 26 |
| Bibliography | 30 |
| Abbreviations and Acronyms | 34 |
| About the Author | 35 |
| Peer Review | 36 |

LIST OF FIGURES

| 1. | Rates of Pain, by Body Area, by Seniority | 12 |
|----|--|----|
| 2. | Rates of Pain, by Body Area, by Age | 13 |
| 3. | Rates of Musculoskeletal Pain (Last 12 Months), Selected Areas, Compared to General Population (2012) | 19 |
| 4. | Rates of Musculoskeletal Pain, Selected Areas, Compared to General Population (2017) | 19 |

LIST OF TABLES

| 1. | Age and Seniority of Survey Respondents | 8 |
|-----|---|----|
| 2. | Hours per Week Worked and BMI of Survey Respondents | 8 |
| 3. | Frequency of Musculoskeletal Pain by Body Area | 9 |
| 4. | Rates of Pain, by Body Area, by Gender | 10 |
| 5. | Rates of Pain, by Body Area, by Part-Time/Full-Time | 11 |
| 6. | Rates of Pain, by Body Area, by Hours per Week Worked | 11 |
| 7. | Rates of Pain, by Body Area, by BMI | 14 |
| 8. | Logistic Regression Models for Each Body Area, Last 12 Months | 15 |
| 9. | Logistic Regression Models for Each Body Area, Last 7 Days | 15 |
| 10. | Rates of Work Prevention, Medical Visits, and Worker's Compensation for Those with Pain in Past 12 Months | 16 |
| 11. | Gendered Differences in Work Prevention, Medical Visits, and Worker's Compensation | 17 |
| 12. | Part-Time/Full-Time Differences in Work Prevention, Medical Visits, and Worker's Compensation | 17 |

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This paper examines the rates of musculoskeletal discomfort in a sample of 957 city bus drivers at King County Metro, a public transportation agency serving the greater Seattle area. It also examines how often such pain prevented drivers from doing their normal work, needed treatment from a medical professional, or incited one or more worker's compensation claims. To assess the level of musculoskeletal discomfort in city bus drivers, an anonymous survey was distributed to drivers at King County Metro, a public transportation agency serving the greater Seattle area. This survey consisted of a Nordic Questionnaire asking drivers whether or not they experienced pain in certain areas of the body in the past twelve months, along with a small section asking for basic information such as age, hours per week worked, and gender. The results of the survey demonstrate that bus drivers experience very high rates of musculoskeletal pain, with 85% of respondents indicating pain in at least one area of the body. Comparisons to CDC data show higher rates of musculoskeletal pain in this sample than in the general population. Female and full-time drivers showed consistently higher rates of pain across all areas of the body then their male and part-time counterparts, while variables such as BMI and age showed less influence. Rates of pain in the lower back, shoulders, and knees were especially elevated. Of those experiencing pain in at least one area of the body, more than 50% were prevented from doing their normal work and visited a medical professional. For all drivers experiencing pain, there were large gaps in the rates of medical visits and worker's compensation claims. Policy recommendations include the provision of active-suspension seats in the agency's fleet of buses and better placement of key controls in the drivers' workstation, two goals potentially attainable through increased participation of drivers in the bus-procurement process. The role of different route types, stop placement patterns, and road surfaces in addressing rates of musculoskeletal pain in bus drivers should also be investigated.

I. INTRODUCTION

Musculoskeletal discomfort—and especially low back pain, shoulder pain, and neck pain has been studied consistently in a variety of occupational environments and shown to be a persistent health issue in many of them. City bus operators are not an exception. On top of high job demands and other issues more commonly associated with the occupation, musculoskeletal disorders (MSDs), i.e. pain or injuries affecting the musculoskeletal system, have repeatedly been established as a significant problem for bus drivers.

This study examines rates of musculoskeletal discomfort in a large population of bus operators working for King County Metro, a transit agency serving King County, Washington. Most notably, this county is home to the rapidly expanding cities of Seattle and Bellevue. Seattle buses and King County Metro drivers have been the subjects of recent investigations in the literature regarding the bus fleet itself. This research, summarized later in the report, focuses on the whole-body vibrations felt by bus operators while driving their routes, which have been found to have a negative impact on drivers' health. The present study builds on existing literature by examining the health outcomes for the operators. Specifically, it attempts to answer the following questions:

- 1. What are the rates of musculoskeletal pain in bus drivers? Do work-related and/or sociodemographic factors significantly influence these rates? Do drivers experience higher rates of musculoskeletal pain than the general population?
- 2. Of those drivers experiencing musculoskeletal pain, how many are prevented from doing their normal work, and how many have looked for further assistance? Do these rates also vary depending on work and/or sociodemographic factors?

Recent years have seen considerable expansion in the bus services offered by King County Metro as demand for alternative modes of transportation continues to increase in the area. With this expansion, King County Metro has had to rapidly enlarge its fleet of vehicles to meet demand. Results from this report, then, have strong relevance to the procurement of new vehicles, and will allow the agency to better design vehicles to suit drivers' needs.

In this report, a literature review summarizes existing studies outlining specific areas of the body found to be particularly aggravated in populations of occupational drivers, also looking at broader research on bus drivers' health. Next, the methodology of the survey is laid out, explaining the design of the survey and its embedded Nordic questionnaire handed out to participants. A results section summarizes the findings from the survey. The discussion attempts to answer each of the research goals in detail and compares the rates of musculoskeletal pain from this survey to existing CDC data. The findings of this report are summarized in the conclusion, along with suggestions for future research and policy implications.

II. LITERATURE REVIEW

Past studies on bus drivers' health, and particularly on occupation-related musculoskeletal disorders, have focused on sociodemographic characteristics and existing health conditions of bus drivers as explanatory variables for differences in pain and injury. The Nordic Musculoskeletal Questionnaire is a common tool in such research, as it has been referred to as being "repeatable, sensitive and useful," with "acceptable" reliability and a focus on symptoms most frequently found in occupational settings.¹ Further studies have employed control populations and generally agree that occupational drivers of buses, trucks, and other vehicles incur higher rates of pain and injury compared to non-driving occupations.

The following section provides an overview of the existing research investigating different aspects of bus drivers' health, well-being, and safety. It first summarizes the relevant research on musculoskeletal disorders (MSDs), broken down by the effects of gender, hours per week, and age on its prevalence. It then summarizes research completed on other health issues commonly faced by bus and other occupational drivers. Lastly, it underlines the policy recommendations made by existing literature.

MUSCULOSKELETAL PAIN

Research has consistently shown that bus drivers experience higher levels of MSDs than both the general population and other employees at transit agencies. Netterstrom and Juel investigate the prevalence of low-back pain in 2,045 male bus drivers in Denmark, finding that it is significantly higher than that among the study's control group.² Bovenzi and Zadini investigate low-back pain symptoms in both bus drivers and a control group of maintenance workers in Trieste, Italy; they find significantly higher rates of both lowerback and other pain in bus drivers compared to the control population.³ Similarly, a study of 195 subjects in a California urban transit union found a 30% difference in the amount of back or neck pain experienced by motor coach drivers and non-drivers.⁴

Recent literature has specifically focused on high exposure to whole-body vibrations (WBVs) as a potential explanation for musculoskeletal disorders in bus drivers. A comparative study between Swedish and American bus drivers by Magnusson et al. finds that WBV exposure is a significant risk factor for musculoskeletal disorders.⁵ A measurement of vibration levels in Seattle buses on test routes traversing various road conditions by Lewis and Johnson concludes that they are well above recommended amounts.⁶ A somewhat similar study by Jonsson et al. evaluates the vibration-suppressing performance of an air-suspension seat versus a static seat in both low-floor and high-floor buses. They find that the air-suspension seat provides little added absorbency from the WBVs.⁷ Relatedly, Thamsuwan et al. compare high-floor and low-floor vehicles in terms of driver exposure to WBVs, but unlike Jonsson et al., they recommend a further review of the seat's role in reducing drivers' WBV exposure.⁸ Blood et al. further examine the role of three different seats with varying foam types and seat pressures in driver exposure to WBVs, using a similar methodology. Much like Jonsson et al., they find that no seat was the out-and-out best performer and that WBVs remained a significant issue.⁹

Gender

Although most existing research on MSDs in bus drivers comes from a male-heavy or maleexclusive pool of respondents, some existing research shows that, among bus drivers, women are more likely to develop MSDs than men. This finding is most strongly stated in a study by Wei et al. of 2,095 metropolitan Minnesota bus operators. They found that female workers were at higher risk for developing work-related injuries.¹⁰ It is, however, important to note that the literature examining the role of gender in the prevalence of MSDs in bus drivers is very limited when compared to research on the role of other factors, such as hours per week, age, and stress-coping mechanisms.

Hours per Week and Shift Types

Research also shows that the schedules and shift types of drivers influence both driver fatigue and musculoskeletal pain. A study by Tamrin et al. found that rates of musculoskeletal disorders was much higher in those driving more than eight hours daily than others.¹¹ One counterpoint to this is a study by Akinpelu et al., which does not find a significant relationship between hours worked and MSDs. However, even the authors of the study underline the peculiarity of that finding in the context of previous research.¹²

Age and Seniority

Existing studies have shown that age is also an important explanatory variable for MSDs. Szeto and Lam use the Nordic questionnaire to evaluate rates of MSDs in 481 Hong Kong bus drivers, finding that younger age groups actually have higher prevalence of pain. They refer to this phenomenon as the "survivor bias."¹³ A study by Alperovitch-Najenson et al. of bus drivers in Tel Aviv focusing solely on low-back pain found a similar pattern, which they termed the "healthy worker effect." They theorized that high levels of injury in the occupation tend to force drivers to retire or find other employment due to the high prevalence of MSDs, inflating injury rates for younger drivers.¹⁴ The healthy worker effect is also discussed in a literature review of epidemiological studies on bus drivers by Winkleby et al., which, like much of the aforementioned literature, emphasizes the abnormally high rates of MSDs in bus drivers.¹⁵

OTHER HEALTH ISSUES

A sizable amount of studies on occupational stress on bus drivers reveals not only that stress is a major problem in the occupation, but also that it can negatively affect other aspects of drivers' health as well, including musculoskeletal issues. Using a sample of 60 Los Angeles-area bus drivers, Evans and Carrere find in a 1991 study that traffic congestion plays an important role as a stressor for bus drivers.¹⁶ A study of 1,396 San Francisco bus operators by Albright et al. finds inverse relationships between job demands, job strain, and hypertension.¹⁷ Aronsson and Rissler find that bus drivers' reported stress levels during work sessions far surpassed those during comparison sessions.¹⁸ Bartone's 1998 study of 912 Chicago bus drivers finds a moderately strong correlation between stress and illness, with a focus on regressive coping tendencies as a linking variable between the two.¹⁹

5

and their relation to aberrant driving behavior, associating confrontational responses with unsafe conduct.²⁰ Similar studies by Cendales et al., Useche et al., and Montoro et al. evaluate bus drivers' responses to stress and their relation to job strain and risky driving behavior.²¹ Similarly, Chen and Kao focus on job burnout and its association with drivers' stress, finding strong relationships between job strain, burnout, health problems (such as musculoskeletal issues), and aberrant driving behavior.²² The above studies commonly underline a strong positive relationship between drivers' stress and health problems, such as musculoskeletal issues.

Job fatigue and sleepiness have also been underlined as a major issue for bus drivers, and, like stress, have been associated with other health issues, including musculoskeletal ones. Although there are no direct links between musculoskeletal issues and sleeping disorders in the extant literature, many related physical health problems have been correlated to fatigue and sleepiness while driving. A study of 2,389 drivers of Japanese buses, subways, or railways by Sasai-Sakuma et al. estimates that sleep-apnea syndrome is prevalent in 9.8% or higher of the respondents who underwent a medical evaluation.²³ Anund et al. employ a different methodology to evaluate sleepiness in a sample of 231 city bus drivers of Stockholm, Sweden. Through a detailed guestionnaire, they find that a significant portion of bus drivers have to fight to stay awake while operating their vehicle.²⁴ Another, more specific paper by Anund et al. makes use of a within-subject design involving 9 male and 9 female bus drivers in Linkoping, Sweden working morning-afternoon split shifts; it reports that the respondents suffered from significant sleepiness and reductions in driving performance during the later shift.²⁵ Davidovic et al. attempt to identify the factors influencing fatigue among 345 male Serbian bus and truck drivers, finding that both work factors, especially excessive hours, and health factors were important in determining fatique among the respondents.²⁶

IMPLICATIONS FOR AGENCIES

The existing literature consistently recommends agency-level changes in recruitment, training, and work culture as avenues for improving bus drivers' health. Tse et al., through a comprehensive literature review on bus driver well-being, conclude that improvements in both recruitment and job conditions are necessary. They suggest that the recruitment processes used by agencies should better reflect an average day on the job, and that agencies should provide trainings to help drivers cope with stress and unruly riders.²⁷ Crizzle et al. reflect this conclusion in a similar literature review which also includes long-haul truck drivers, adding that individual-level interventions, such as diet improvements or increased physical activity, are often unsustainable or ineffective, and that change in the occupation must occur at a higher level.²⁸ A literature review on stress in bus drivers by Kompier and Di Martino recommends long-term, structural changes at transit agencies in order to reduce stress and related health issues in bus drivers.²⁹

Better bus procurement and design is one recurring recommendation made to transit agencies in the current literature. A TCRP report investigates the potential for agencies to acquire buses with better operator workstation areas through improved procurement processes.³⁰ Both Okunribido et al. and Yasobant et al. recommend an investigation of the design of bus drivers' seats and the resulting posture of drivers as an explanation for high

levels of MSDs in drivers.³¹ Gregersen examines the cost tradeoffs of three approaches to upgrading King County Metro bus driver seats in Seattle, WA; she estimates that upgrading bus drivers' seats would save the agency money in the long run by reducing the costs incurred by worker's compensation claims.³²

III. METHODOLOGY

To assess musculoskeletal pain prevalence in King County Metro bus drivers, an anonymous survey with two primary components was distributed to drivers (Appendix A). The first component of the survey asked respondents to answer general demographic questions, including years of seniority (the years worked by the driver at King County Metro), hours per week worked, age, height, weight, part-time or full-time status, and gender. The second and main component of the survey consisted of a Nordic questionnaire which asked whether respondents had felt pain in the following areas over the past 12 months: neck, shoulders, elbows, wrists/hands, upper back, lower back, hips/thighs, knees, and ankles/feet. If a respondent were to answer 'yes' for any area of the body, the survey then prompted the respondent with four follow-up questions: whether or not the pain had prevented them from doing their normal work, whether or not they had felt such pain in the last 7 days, whether or not they had consulted a medical professional for the pain, and whether or not they had applied for worker's compensation for the pain. The questions were presented as a table of 45 yes/no checkboxes with areas of the body as rows and the five corresponding questions as columns.

The survey was handed out during the 'pick,' a biannual procedure whereby drivers choose their schedules for the upcoming service period. The 'pick' lasted from May 13th to May 25th, and surveys were collected on all weekdays during this time. The drivers with more seniority choose earlier, and as a majority of the surveys were handed out and collected during the last three days of the 'pick,' response rates are especially pronounced for drivers with low seniority. The survey targeted all King County Metro drivers, both part-time and full-time. To collect surveys, two researchers, one a former driver at the agency, intercepted drivers as they entered or exited the 'pick' room at King County Metro's Atlantic bus base. All persons in the immediate area were approached and asked to respond (as almost all were drivers), and no explicit refusals to participate in the survey were recorded. In total, 1326 surveys were collected from respondents.

Because of the design of the survey, the responses had to be checked for contradictory answers, which would invalidate them from the final analysis. Survey responses were entered into a spreadsheet, which was then exported to a comma-separated values (.csv) file. A simple Python script was used to check for blank cells or other errors in data entry. Errors were then re-checked against the original surveys. Another Python script was subsequently used to filter out incomplete and incorrectly filled-out surveys (e.g., if the respondent indicated that they had not had pain in a specific area of the body in the past 12 months, but answered 'yes' to one of the follow-up questions). The filtered file was then entered into SPSS, which was used for the data analysis.

IV. RESULTS

The results of the survey are broken down as follows. Firstly, the survey demographics are presented. Next, rates of musculoskeletal pain are displayed, broken down by gender, hours per week worked, age and seniority, and BMI. A logistic regression model combines these factors to analyze their relative influence on musculoskeletal pain. Lastly, rates of work prevention, medical visits, and worker's compensation claims are analyzed, broken down by gender and hours per week worked.

RESPONSE RATES AND DEMOGRAPHICS

In total, 1,326 surveys were collected, of which 957 were completely and non-contradictorily filled out and subsequently used in the data analysis. At the time of data collection, there were 3,003 drivers at the agency, meaning almost one out of every three drivers at the agency is represented in the final sample.³³ Of the 957 survey respondents, 23% identified as female while 77% identified as male. 27% of respondents were part-time workers and the other 73% worked full-time. Given that, at the time data was collected, there were 1,996 full-time drivers and 1,007 part-time drivers, the sample slightly over-represents full-time drivers, but not excessively.³⁴ Tables 1 and 2 show frequency distributions for the age, seniority, hours per week worked, and the calculated body-mass index (from the height and weight questions in the survey) of respondents.

| A | Age | Seniority | | | |
|-----------|---------------|-----------------|---------------|--|--|
| Age Group | Frequency (%) | Seniority Group | Frequency (%) | | |
| < 30 | 5 | < 5 | 34 | | |
| 30–39 | 16 | 5–9 | 15 | | |
| 40–49 | 21 | 10–14 | 16 | | |
| 50–59 | 34 | 15–19 | 13 | | |
| 60–69 | 23 | 20–24 | 8 | | |
| 70+ | 2 | 25–29 | 5 | | |
| | | 30+ | 9 | | |

Table 1. Age and Seniority of Survey Respondents

Table 2. Hours per Week Worked and BMI of Survey Respondents

| Hours p | er Week | E | BMI |
|----------------|---------------|-----------|---------------|
| Hours per Week | Frequency (%) | BMI | Frequency (%) |
| < 20 | 10 | < 18.5 | 1 |
| 20–39 | 17 | 18.5–24.9 | 18 |
| 40–59 | 67 | 25–29.9 | 36 |
| 60+ | 6 | 30+ | 44 |

The mean age of respondents was 51 years, with a standard deviation of 12. For seniority, the mean was 12 years, with a standard deviation of 11. Respondents worked an average of 39 hours per week, with a standard deviation of 13. As for BMI, the average respondent was obese, according to the CDC guidelines, with a mean of 30 and standard deviation of 6. It is important to note that none of these variables appear to be normally distributed, as confirmed by the results of Shapiro-Wilk normality tests on each of these variables, which all reject the null hypothesis of normality at the .01 significance level.

RATES OF MUSCULOSKELETAL PAIN

Table 3 shows the frequency of musculoskeletal pain among the respondents in each of the areas included in the questionnaire. Of all respondents, 85% reported having developed an injury or pain in at least one part of the body in the past 12 months. The most frequently cited areas of the body were the lower back, with 60% reporting pain in the last 12 months, then shoulders, with 51%, then knees, with 47%. The neck area was also a common source of pain, where 46% of respondents reported having discomfort in the last 12 months.

| | Right (Last 12 Months) | Left (Last 12 Months) | Both (Last 12 Months) | Total (Last 12 Months) | Total (Last 7 Days) |
|--------------|---------------------------|--------------------------|--------------------------|---------------------------|------------------------|
| | | | Frequency (%) | | |
| Neck | | | | 46 | 23 |
| Shoulders | 19 | 13 | 19 | 51 | 26 |
| Elbows | 6 | 4 | 6 | 16 | 7 |
| Wrists/Hands | 10 | 5 | 17 | 32 | 14 |
| Upper Back | | | | 29 | 14 |
| Lower Back | | | | 60 | 28 |
| Hips/Thighs | 16 | 5 | 12 | 33 | 17 |
| Knees | 23 | 5 | 18 | 47 | 24 |
| Ankles/Feet | 12 | 4 | 12 | 28 | 14 |
| 1 or More | | | | 85 | 56 |

Table 3. Frequency of Musculoskeletal Pain by Body Area

Of note are the disproportionately low frequencies of pain reported exclusively in the left areas of the body. For each body part where respondents were asked whether the pain occurred on the right, the left, or both, rates of pain on just the left side were consistently much lower than those for just the right side and for both.

Rates of pain in the last 7 days mirror the patterns of rates of pain in the last 12 months, but at about half the magnitude. The lower back, shoulders, knees, and neck area remain the areas with the highest rates of discomfort in the 7 days before the survey was distributed.

Differences across Gender

To test for differences in rates of pain across gender, a chi-square difference of proportions test was used to compare respective rates of pain in each area of the body inquired about on the Nordic questionnaire. Table 4 illustrates the results.

| | Frequency: La | st 12 Months (%) | Frequency: L | ast 7 Days (%) |
|--------------|---------------|------------------|--------------|----------------|
| | Male | Female | Male | Female |
| Neck | 41 | 62** | 20 | 34** |
| Shoulders | 47 | 64** | 22 | 42** |
| Elbows | 13 | 23** | 5 | 13** |
| Wrists/Hands | 27 | 49** | 11 | 24** |
| Upper Back | 25 | 41** | 12 | 21** |
| Lower Back | 57 | 69** | 25 | 41** |
| Hips/Thighs | 28 | 51** | 14 | 34** |
| Knees | 43 | 61** | 21 | 34** |
| Ankles/Feet | 25 | 38** | 12 | 24** |
| 1 or More | 82 | 95** | 50 | 78** |

Table 4. Rates of Pain, by Body Area, by Gender

** indicates a significant difference between men and women, at p < .01.

As indicated in Table 4, rates of pain for each part of the body were significantly higher among women than among men, each at the .01 significance level. This is true for both periods of time inquired about in the survey. Notably, 95% of women reported having pain in at least one area of the body over the last 12 months, versus 81% of men. Further, 78% of women reported pain in at least one area of the body over the past 7 days, versus 50% for men, a difference of 28 percentage points.

Differences across Hours per Week Worked

Similar differences were found between part-time and full-time workers, although they were less pronounced. The same chi-square difference of proportions test was used to determine whether differences in rates of discomfort for each body part were significant. The results are displayed in Table 5.

| | Frequency: Last 12 Months (%) | | Frequency: La | ast 7 Days (%) |
|--------------|-------------------------------|-----------|---------------|----------------|
| | Part-Time | Full-Time | Part-Time | Full-Time |
| Neck | 41 | 48* | 21 | 24 |
| Shoulders | 40 | 55** | 20 | 28* |
| Elbows | 13 | 17 | 6 | 7 |
| Wrists/Hands | 25 | 34** | 11 | 15 |
| Upper Back | 22 | 31** | 10 | 16* |
| Lower Back | 49 | 64** | 22 | 31* |
| Hips/Thighs | 30 | 34 | 13 | 19* |
| Knees | 41 | 49 | 19 | 25* |
| Ankles/Feet | 22 | 30* | 11 | 16 |
| 1 or More | 81 | 86* | 52 | 58 |

Table 5. Rates of Pain, by Body Area, by Part-Time/Full-Time

* indicates significant difference between part-time and full-time at p < .05 level.

** indicates significant difference between part-time and full-time at p < .01 level.

Bold indicates significant difference between part-time and full-time at p < .05 or p < .01 level.

For all areas of the body, full-time workers reported higher rates of pain. However, differences are generally less significant than those found between men and women in the study. The larger significance of gender differences compared to differences in hours worked is a surprising result. Also, these differences weaken considerably when the duration of pain is reduced to the frame of 7 days before the survey was administered, where there are no differences that were found to be significant past the .05 confidence level.

Table 6 provides a more in-depth overview of the relationship between hours worked and injury rates, showing injury rates by hours per week worked in twenty-hour groups.

| | Respondents with pain in last 12 months (%) | | | | | |
|--------------|---|-------------|-------------|-----------|--|--|
| | < 20 Hours | 20–39 Hours | 40–59 Hours | 60+ Hours | | |
| Neck | 37 | 43 | 48 | 44 | | |
| Shoulders | 35 | 43 | 54 | 64 | | |
| Elbows | 11 | 14 | 17 | 16 | | |
| Wrists/Hands | 17 | 28 | 35 | 30 | | |
| Upper Back | 19 | 25 | 31 | 30 | | |
| Lower Back | 39 | 54 | 64 | 62 | | |
| Hips/Thighs | 29 | 30 | 34 | 38 | | |
| Knees | 33 | 46 | 49 | 44 | | |
| Ankles/Feet | 23 | 23 | 31 | 26 | | |
| 1 or More | 74 | 85 | 87 | 82 | | |

Table 6. Rates of Pain, by Body Area, by Hours per Week Worked

Although there is a clearly positive relationship between the two variables, patterns vary between areas of the body. One surprising finding is that rates of pain in the 60+ hours per week group are actually lower than those in the 40–59 hours per week group for most areas of the body, and for those experiencing pain in at least one area. For some areas, such as the lower back, the range of rates of discomfort is very large; for example, there is a 25 percentage point difference in rates of low back pain between the under 20 hours group and the 40–59 hours group.

Differences across Age and Seniority

Figure 1 illustrates differences in rates of pain in the four most-mentioned areas of the body across the seniority variable.



Figure 1. Rates of Pain, by Body Area, by Seniority

It is difficult to discern consistent patterns in rates of pain across the seniority variable. The 20–24 and 30+ year groups show consistently lower rates of pain compared to surrounding groups. However, no overarching pattern is consistent across different areas of the body.

Figure 2 uses a similar illustration and the same areas of the body to examine the effect of age on musculoskeletal pain.



Figure 2. Rates of Pain, by Body Area, by Age

In all areas of the body above, there is a clearer pattern than in Figure 1, where rates of pain reported by drivers decreases at around the 50–59 year age range, and in some cases, such as the lower back, even earlier on. However, it is important to note the small sample size of the 70+ group (22 respondents), which might influence the consistently

very low rates of musculoskeletal pain reported by that group—there is a possibility that it could be a statistical anomaly. Overall, the relationship of pain with age is much more visible than that with seniority.

Differences across Body Mass Index

To assess differences in rates of musculoskeletal discomfort across respondents' bodymass index (BMI), BMI was grouped following the underweight, normal, overweight, and obese classifications used by the CDC. Table 7 best demonstrates the patterns in the data. In all areas of the body, the obese category shows higher rates of musculoskeletal pain, apart from elbows and upper back. As there were only 7 respondents in the underweight category, those results are not interpretable.

| | Respondents with pain in last 12 months (%) | | | | | |
|--------------|---|---------------|-------------|---------|--|--|
| | < 18.5 BMI | 18.5–24.9 BMI | 25–29.9 BMI | 30+ BMI | | |
| Neck | 43 | 39 | 47 | 49 | | |
| Shoulders | 43 | 49 | 49 | 53 | | |
| Elbows | 29 | 13 | 17 | 16 | | |
| Wrists/Hands | 29 | 30 | 29 | 35 | | |
| Upper Back | 43 | 29 | 31 | 27 | | |
| Lower Back | 57 | 54 | 58 | 65 | | |
| Hips/Thighs | 29 | 33 | 30 | 36 | | |
| Knees | 71 | 44 | 42 | 51 | | |
| Ankles/Feet | 29 | 24 | 27 | 31 | | |
| 1 or More | 100 | 81 | 83 | 88 | | |

Table 7. Rates of Pain, by Body Area, by BMI

Although there are visibly pronounced differences in rates of pain across BMI groups, it is important to note that they are of much smaller magnitude than those across gender or hours per week worked. Ignoring the minutely-sized underweight category, the largest difference between rates in one area of the body barely exceeds ten percentage points for BMI, compared to differences of more than 25 percentage points across gender and hours per week.

A Unified Model for Musculoskeletal Pain

In order to look at both the relative and absolute statistical significance of the above variables in explaining rates of musculoskeletal pain in bus drivers, logistic regression models were created for each area of the body. The dependent variable is a 0/1 value indicating whether or not pain occurred in that area of the body, with 1 representing some level of pain and 0 representing no pain. The independent variables—age, gender, seniority, hours per week worked, and the BMI of respondents—have been considered in previous research as potentially influencing rates of musculoskeletal pain, or were expected to influence the dependent variable in these models.

The results are displayed in Tables 7 and 8, which correspond to rates of pain over the last 12 months and over the last 7 days, respectively. Each row represents the result of the logistic regression model for the specified area of the body.

| | Age | Gender | Seniority | Hours/ Week | ВМІ | Nag. R² | Model % Accuracy | Significant Model? |
|--------------|-----|--------|-----------|----------------|-----|------------|---------------------|-----------------------|
| Neck | - | +** | + | + | + | .048 | 59.5 | Y |
| Shoulders | - | +** | + | +** | + | .062 | 58.4 | Y |
| Elbows | - | +** | + | + | + | .033 | 84.4 | Y |
| Wrists/Hands | + | +** | + | +** | + | .073 | 70.2 | Y |
| Upper Back | _** | +** | + | +* | + | .064 | 71.2 | Y |
| Lower Back | _** | +** | + | +** | +* | .068 | 63.5 | Y |
| Hips/Thighs | + | +** | + | +* | + | .072 | 68.8 | Y |
| Knees | - | +** | + | +* | +* | .047 | 58.2 | Y |
| Ankles/Feet | - | +** | + | + | +* | .031 | 72.4 | Y |
| 1 or More | - | +** | + | +** | +* | .080 | 84.8 | Y |

| | Table 8. | Logistic Regress | on Models for | r Each Bodv | Area. La | st 12 Months |
|--|----------|------------------|---------------|-------------|----------|--------------|
|--|----------|------------------|---------------|-------------|----------|--------------|

+ indicates a positive correlation.

- indicates a negative correlation.

* indicates significance at p < .05 level.

** indicates significance at p < .01 level.

Bold indicates significance at p < .05 or p < .01 level.

| | Age | Gender | Seniority | Hours/ Week | ВМІ | Nag. R² | Model % Accuracy | Significant Model? |
|--------------|-----|--------|-----------|----------------|-----|------------|---------------------|-----------------------|
| Neck | - | +** | + | + | + | .032 | 77.2 | Y |
| Shoulders | - | +** | + | +** | + | .064 | 73.7 | Y |
| Elbows | + | +** | + | + | + | .041 | 93.1 | Y |
| Wrists/Hands | + | +** | + | + | - | .054 | 86.3 | Y |
| Upper Back | -* | +** | + | +* | + | .034 | 85.8 | Y |
| Lower Back | - | +** | - | +* | +* | .054 | 72.0 | Y |
| Hips/Thighs | + | +** | + | +** | - | .060 | 82.7 | Y |
| Knees | + | +** | - | +* | +** | .047 | 77.0 | Y |
| Ankles/Feet | + | +** | + | + | + | .054 | 85.6 | Y |
| 1 or More | + | +** | - | +* | +** | .095 | 60.8 | Y |

Table 9. Logistic Regression Models for Each Body Area, Last 7 Days

+ indicates a positive correlation.

- indicates a negative correlation.

* indicates significance at p < .05 level.

** indicates significance at p < .01 level.

Bold indicates significance at p < .05 or p < .01 level.

Of all of the variables so far examined, differences in gender remained the most significant source of variation in rates of musculoskeletal discomfort among respondents. Other consistently significant explanatory variables in both models were the number of hours per week worked and, to a lesser extent, BMI. These observations follow intuitions gained from looking at each of these variables individually.

Though there are some statistically significant correlations, it is important to note the low pseudo-R squared values on all models. Not one of these models explains more than 10% of the variation in rates of musculoskeletal discomfort, and the model accuracies are low when the real frequencies are not below 15% or above 85%. In essence, the model does not explain a significant portion of the prevalence of musculoskeletal discomfort, and further, many outside factors that do affect these rates are not accounted for in these models.

RATES OF WORK PREVENTION AND MEDICAL VISITS/WORKER'S COMPENSATION

Table 10 shows the rate of respondents asserting that pain prevented them from doing their normal work, rates of pain-related doctor visits, and rates of workers' compensation claims as a percentage of rates of pain in the last 12 months for each area of the body.

| | (%) of respondents with pain in the last 12 months who: | | | | | |
|--------------|---|---------------------------------|--------------------------------------|--|--|--|
| | Were Prevented from Doing Normal Work | Visited Medical Professional | Applied for Worker's Compensation | | | |
| Neck | 31 | 46 | 8 | | | |
| Shoulders | 31 | 42 | 11 | | | |
| Elbows | 28 | 34 | 11 | | | |
| Wrists/Hands | 31 | 33 | 11 | | | |
| Upper Back | 35 | 48 | 11 | | | |
| Lower Back | 42 | 45 | 10 | | | |
| Hips/Thighs | 35 | 37 | 8 | | | |
| Knees | 35 | 35 | 7 | | | |
| Ankles/Feet | 34 | 40 | 9 | | | |
| 1 or More | 51 | 60 | 19 | | | |

Table 10. Rates of Work Prevention, Medical Visits, and Worker's Compensation for Those with Pain in Past 12 Months

In general, for each area of the body, around 30–40% of those who had pain in the last 12 months were prevented from doing their normal work. Around 35–45% of this population visited a doctor or other medical professional to seek help for the pain in that area of the body, and around 10% applied for worker's compensation for pain in that area of the body. For respondents with one or more areas of pain, 51% had at least one of those areas prevent them from doing their normal work; 60% sought medical help, and 19% applied for worker's compensation for at least one of those areas.

The large gap in the percentage of respondents reporting that the pain prevented them

from doing their normal work and the rate of worker's compensation claims is a highly visible outcome. For all areas of the body, the gap is between around 20 to 30 percentage points. An even larger gap in rates of doctor's visits and worker's compensation claims exists, and although rates of doctor's visits are slightly more variable, they remain higher than rates of work prevention for each area of the body.

Differences across Gender

Table 11 outlines gendered differences in rates of work prevention, doctor visits, and worker's compensation for those with musculoskeletal pain in the past 12 months. Women with one area of pain or more in the last 12 months were prevented from doing their normal work more than men (11 percentage points), visited medical professionals more than men (17 percentage points), and applied for worker's compensation at nearly double the percentage that men with discomfort over the past year did.

Table 11. Gendered Differences in Work Prevention, Medical Visits, and Worker'sCompensation

| | (%) of responder | (%) of respondents with pain in the last 12 months who: | | | | |
|--------|--|---|--------------------------------------|--|--|--|
| | Were Prevented from Doing Normal Work | Visited Medical Professional | Applied for Worker's Compensation | | | |
| Male | 48 | 56 | 15 | | | |
| Female | 59 | 73 | 31 | | | |

Differences across Hours per Week Worked

Table 12 shows differences in rates of work prevention, doctor visits, and worker's compensation for those with musculoskeletal pain in the past 12 months. Compared to differences across gender, differences here are of similar magnitude, although they are smaller. Full-time workers were prevented from doing their normal work 17 percentage points more than part-time workers, visited medical professionals 10 percentage points more, and applied for worker's compensation 7 percentage points more.

Table 12. Part-Time/Full-Time Differences in Work Prevention, Medical Visits, and Worker's Compensation

| | (%) of responder | (%) of respondents with pain in the last 12 months who: | | | | | |
|-----------|--|--|----|--|--|--|--|
| | Were Prevented from Doing Normal Work | Ited from Visited Medical Applied for Worker's Nal Work Professional Compensation | | | | | |
| Part-Time | 38 | 53 | 14 | | | | |
| Full-Time | 55 | 63 | 21 | | | | |

V. DISCUSSION

The following section discusses and analyzes the above results, comparing their relative significance and positioning them within existing literature and findings from similar surveys. It first looks at results related to rates of musculoskeletal discomfort, summarizing the large disparities in rates across gender and hours per week worked, and showing that the frequency of musculoskeletal discomfort is well above that of the general population. It then analyzes results related to work prevention, medical visits, and worker's compensation, also showing large disparities across gender. It also comments on the large gap between frequencies of the three variables, noting that the difference between rates of work prevention and worker's compensation claims underlines a large yet unrealized cost to King County Metro.

LARGE DISPARITIES IN RATES OF MUSCULOSKELETAL DISCOMFORT

The rates of musculoskeletal discomfort found in this study, especially in the areas with high prevalence, such as the lower back and knees, closely align with existing literature regarding such issues among occupational drivers. Specifically, the present findings mirror those of Szeto and Lam, who found similarly high rates of musculoskeletal issues in the lower back, shoulders, and neck areas of a smaller sample of Hong Kong bus drivers.³⁵

Figures 3 and 4 show the rates of musculoskeletal discomfort of drivers in this survey as compared to rates of pain for the general population. Figure 3 regards rates of musculoskeletal pain in the last 12 months for selected body areas, which provides a direct comparison to results from this survey. The data in Figure 4, while more recent, regard rates of pain over the last 3 months. These data come from national surveys conducted by the CDC.

Both sets of data support the statement that bus drivers see considerably higher rates of musculoskeletal pain than the general population. The direct comparison between rates of pain over the last 12 months results in differences of more than 30 percentage points across all categories (Figure 3). Comparisons to more recent data show smaller gaps in rates of pain, but it is important to note that the more recent data consider rates of pain over 3 months and not 12 (Figure 4). Notably, rates of lower back pain in the last 7 days in this study were only 6 percentage points lower than those in the last 3 months in the general population. These consistently large gaps in rates of pain mirror the findings of previous studies by Yasobant et al., Magnusson et al., and Alperovitch-Najenson et al.³⁶



Figure 3. Rates of Musculoskeletal Pain (Last 12 Months), Selected Areas, Compared to General Population (2012)

Tainya C. Clarke, Richard L. Nahin, Patricia M. Barnes, and Barbara J. Stussman. "Use of Complementary Health Approaches for Musculoskeletal Pain Disorders Among Adults: United States, 2012." National Health Statistics Reports (October 2016).



Figure 4. Rates of Musculoskeletal Pain, Selected Areas, Compared to General Population (2017)

2017 National Health Interview Survey (NHIS) Sample Adult Public Use File. ftp://ftp.cdc.gov/pub/ Health_Statistics/NCHS/Dataset_Documentation/NHIS/2017/samadult_freq.pdf. September 2018.

One of the most notable findings of this survey is the difference in rates of pain across men and women (Table 4). In many areas of the body, differences were as large as 20–25 percentage points. This finding was confirmed in the logistic regression models, which showed that the differences in rates were statistically significant at the .01 level for all areas of the body (Tables 8 and 9). As the study does not ask about variables potentially linked to this outcome, it is not possible to determine the reasons for such a large gap in rates of discomfort between men and women. Although few studies on musculoskeletal health in bus drivers have reached similarly strong conclusions in this regard, these findings do mirror those of Wei et al., who, in a study with a similar gender balance in the population of respondents, found higher rates of musculoskeletal problems among female transit drivers.³⁷

Differences in rates of pain across hours per week worked were also consistently noticeable, though to a lesser degree than differences across gender. The gap between full-time and part-time workers was consistently smaller and less statistically significant than that between men and women, and the logistic regression model included hours per week as a statistically significant variable less often and at weaker confidence levels. Although the effect on musculoskeletal pain of hours per week worked is clear, there was not a consistent 'cut-off' point in hours per week past which rates of pain were seen to

significantly increase. One surprising finding was that many areas of the body saw pain rates decrease once workers passed the 60 hours per week mark (Table 5). A possible explanation for this finding is that drivers experiencing discomfort would have less incentive to sign up for additional overtime shifts.

One of the more surprising results is the lack of strong patterns of injury rates across different seniorities. Although the possible effects of grouping seniorities into 5-year segments might seem to confound results, looking at the results in one- or two-year segments returns a similarly random pattern. Most notably, those with seniority under one or two years still have high rates of musculoskeletal pain compared to the rest of the population (Figure 1). This finding could stem from the survey's failure to ask about previous employment, outside activities, or existing health conditions unrelated to driving. Unsurprisingly, seniority was never a significant variable in the logistic regression models (Tables 8 and 9).

However, as Alperovitch-Najenson et al. found in their survey of 384 bus operators in Tel Aviv, looking at injury rates across age does show a visible but tame healthy worker effect, wherein rates of pain decrease in older drivers, as those with injury or pain are forced to retire or find other employment earlier on.³⁸ Because the rates of pain were lower in the youngest groups, the U-shaped distribution of pain across the age variable meant that it was not significant in the logistic regression models, which did not account for quadratic relationships between variables (Figure 1, Tables 8 and 9).

The consistently positive and sometimes statistically significant relationship between pain and BMI somewhat follows previous findings of the effects of driver health on wellbeing and discomfort. However, as previously noted, the influence of BMI appears to be less significant than that of gender or hours worked. This is true when looking at raw percentages, and is substantiated in the logistic regression models (Tables 7–9). In order to assess the role of driver health in determining outcomes of musculoskeletal discomfort, it would be critical to collect more information from the respondents, such as physical activity, stress levels, and job demands, as previous studies have done.

The logistic regression models, while significant, explained very little of the variation in rates of musculoskeletal discomfort for all areas of the body (Tables 8 and 9). While a small portion of the variability in rates of discomfort can be explained by the differences in demographic variables among bus drivers, there are still many factors missing in this analysis. More importantly, the consistently high rates of discomfort across all strata of respondents indicate that, regardless of demographics, it is reasonable to expect high rates of musculoskeletal discomfort among all bus drivers, regardless of seniority, age, body mass index, or gender, and to expect that these rates will be well above those of the general population.

LARGE DIFFERENCES BETWEEN WORK PREVENTION AND MEDICAL VISITS/WORKER'S COMPENSATION CLAIMS

There were large gaps between rates of work prevention, medical visits, and worker's compensation. Because the severity of the pain is not asked about in the survey, these differences cannot be explained with data obtained in the survey. However, the high rate (60%) of those with any pain in the last 12 months visiting a medical professional demonstrates a considerable cost to the healthcare system (Table 10). Furthermore, the large difference (more than 40 percentage points) in between the rates of medical visits and worker's compensation claims for those experiencing discomfort shows a potentially huge and yet unrealized cost to King County Metro. Explaining the difference between these two is difficult, but many drivers, in personal conversations, seemed to imply that they did not consider worker's compensation as an option or were not aware of the program. One respondent even circled the worker's compensation question on the survey and wrote next to it, "Didn't know I could."

Differences in the rates of these variables across gender are similar in magnitude to the differences in rates of musculoskeletal pain. Women who had experienced musculoskeletal pain in the past 12 months were more likely than men to be prevented from doing their normal work (by more than 10 percentage points), to visit the doctor (by more than 15 percentage points), and to apply for worker's compensation (by more than 15 percentage points; see Table 11).

Differences in rates of these variables across part-time and full-time drivers are also similar to the differences in the rates of musculoskeletal pain between the two. Although there were similar gaps between part-time and full-time drivers in terms of work prevention, with full-time drivers more likely to be prevented from doing their work, the magnitude of the difference narrows noticeably when it comes to worker's compensation claims (Table 12). The additional burden of applying for worker's compensation with a full-time schedule could be a factor, but the survey does not provide the apparatus to substantiate such an intuition.

VI. CONCLUSIONS AND FURTHER RESEARCH

KEY FINDINGS

A vast majority of respondents reported having pain in at least one area of the body in the last 12 months (85%). For female respondents, rates were consistently more than 15 percentage points higher for all areas of the body in the last 12 months. Notably, 95% of female respondents reported having discomfort in at least one area of the body in the last 12 months, compared to 82% of men. A similarly visible but less pronounced difference was found between full-time and part-time workers. However, for many areas of the body, those working more than 60 hours per week reported lower rates of discomfort than those working 40–59 hours a week. This finding is suspected to be the case because full-time drivers with existing musculoskeletal pain would be less inclined to take on more overtime shifts compared to those without or with less pain. BMI had a visible but less significant positive correlation with rates of discomfort as well. While seniority was not found to have a significant relationship, looking at rates of discomfort across the age of drivers revealed a visible healthy worker effect, where due to early retirement because of repeated injury or discomfort, there is an inverted U-shaped pattern of injury rates across drivers' age.

The logistic regression models, while confirming the results above in terms of statistical significance, showed through consistently low pseudo-R squared and outcome prediction values that these work-related and sociodemographic variables still explain only a small proportion of the prevalence of musculoskeletal pain in bus drivers. Existing literature has pointed to many other explanations to bridge this gap, such as the buses themselves, job demands, stress, and other health indicators. More to the point, rates of musculoskeletal pain over the last 7 days in the survey were comparable to those of the general population over the last 3 months, according to 2017 data from the CDC. This gap becomes even larger when considering rates of pain over the last 12 months from the survey.

Lastly, the questions about rates of work prevention, medical visits, and worker's compensation revealed a large gap for those reporting pain in the last 12 months between rates of medical visits and worker's compensation claims. Of note was the large gap in the rates of all three of the above variables across men and women; women who had musculoskeletal pain in the 12 months before the survey were prevented from doing their normal work, visited medical professionals, and applied for worker's compensation 10 or 15 percentage points more than men did. Similarly, full-time workers with discomfort in the last 12 months were prevented from doing their normal work at much higher rates as well, but the gap lessened considerably for worker's compensation claims.

LIMITATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FURTHER RESEARCH

The design and scope of the survey does somewhat limit the findings herein. For example, the survey did not ask about factors that could have influenced musculoskeletal pain, nor did it ask respondents to try to identify the source of their pain. Future studies on the subject should ask about both job-related and outside potential influences on musculoskeletal disorders. Job-related factors less studied in the existing literature include the vehicles and routes drivers are normally assigned to and the types of shifts drivers work. Outside

factors like hobbies and previous employment should also be included. The gender imbalance of surveys in current literature and the relatively small research on gendered differences in rates of MSDs should be addressed, and investigations on the role of other sociodemographic factors, such as race or class, are equally lacking. As this survey did not address variables such as race or class, there is no discussion their influence herein, but they are potentially very important and must be discussed in future literature on musculoskeletal pain.

Another potentially important limitation is the fact that the survey does not differentiate between levels of pain, and does not ask users to identify the duration of the pain. It also does not ask about pre-existing conditions. Such information would be crucial in better understanding the gaps between rates of pain, work prevention, medical visits, and worker's compensation claims. More detailed, longitudinal studies could help better evaluate the potential burden on the healthcare system, transit agencies, and workers themselves.

In addition to the above recommendations, further research should aim to quantify the potential effects of improved bus workstation design and altered route types on bus drivers. Although existing research has measured the exposure of bus drivers to WBVs, the effects of this exposure have not been quantified and could be an important explanatory variable in an analysis similar to this one. Many smaller aspects of the workstation space, such as bus placement, seat height, seat and pedal adjustability, and viewing angles have gone unnoticed in most existing literature. Additionally, potential differences in rates of musculoskeletal discomfort based on which types of routes drivers operate should be investigated. Factors for such research could include the surface type of roads, route length, and the number and location of stops, among others.

POLICY IMPLICATIONS

Perhaps the most important policy recommendation from this study is the need for significant, high-level interventions at transit agencies to mitigate potential sources of musculoskeletal pain in bus drivers. The large gap between the number of workers who visited a medical professional for their pain and the number who applied for worker's compensation suggests the existence of a large, but yet unrealized, financial burden on King County Metro. Although claims related to back pain already represent 13% of total costs to the agency, the aforementioned gap suggests that the proportion could yet increase.³⁹

Specific policy improvements at the agency level have the potential to better mitigate musculoskeletal discomfort in bus drivers. Changes in bus procurement, such as the provision of active-suspension seats for bus drivers, is one potential avenue. Increasing the participation of drivers in the process would help future rolling stock better address ergonomic concerns. Many drivers at King County Metro mentioned that even seemingly small details, such as the placement of buttons or other controls in the drivers' workstations, have important effects on well-being while driving, and subsequently, over the long-term. Another intervention recommended in previous literature is better training for bus drivers and more realistic recruitment processes. Although these have a less direct relationship with musculoskeletal health issues, they have the potential to help with stress and regressive coping tendencies, which have been linked to poor health in the long-term. Lastly, better

bus routes and road design have the potential to directly mitigate both some of the stress and musculoskeletal health issues drivers face on the job. As mentioned above, however, further research must aim to quantify the effects of these interventions and investigate other avenues to improving drivers' musculoskeletal health.

APPENDIX A: SURVEY QUESTIONNAIRE



ATU Anonymous Survey Musculoskeletal Discomfort

| | To be answered by everyone | | To be answered by those who have had trouble | | | | | | | |
|---|---|--|---|-------|---|-------|--|-------|---|-------|
| | Have you at any time during the last 12 months had trouble (ache, pain, discomfort, numbness) in: | | Have you at any time during the last 12 months been prevented from doing your normal work (at home or away from home) because of the trouble? | | Have you had trouble at any time during the last 7 days ? | | Have you gone to a doctor or other healthcare provider for this trouble? | | Have you applied for worker's compensation for this trouble? | |
| | Neck □ No | □ Yes | D No | □ Yes | □ No | 🗆 Yes | 🗆 No | 🗆 Yes | □ No | □ Yes |
| | Should D No | ers □ Yes, right shoulder □ Yes, left shoulder | 🗆 No | □ Yes | 🗆 No | □ Yes | 🗆 No | 🗆 Yes | □ No | 🗆 Yes |
| | Elbows | ☐ Yes, right elbow☐ Yes, left elbow | 🗆 No | □ Yes | D No | □ Yes | 🗆 No | 🗆 Yes | □ No | □ Yes |
| | Wrists/ □ No | Hands □ Yes, right wrist/hand □ Yes, left wrist/hand | □ No | □ Yes | D No | □ Yes | □ No | □ Yes | □ No | □ Yes |
| t | Upper I | Back | □ No | □ Yes | D No | □ Yes | 🗆 No | □ Yes | D No | □ Yes |
| | Lower | Back (small of back) □ Yes | □ No | □ Yes | 🗆 No | □ Yes | 🗆 No | 🗆 Yes | D No | □ Yes |
| | Hips/T □ No | highs □ Yes, right hip/thigh □ Yes, left hip/thigh | 🗆 No | □ Yes | 🗆 No | □ Yes | 🗆 No | 🗆 Yes | 🗆 No | □ Yes |
| | Knees □ No | □ Yes, right knee □ Yes, left knee | 🗆 No | □ Yes | 🗆 No | □ Yes | 🗆 No | □ Yes | □ No | □ Yes |
| | Ankles/ | Feet □ Yes, right ankle/foot □ Yes, left ankle/foot | D No | □ Yes | D No | □ Yes | 🗆 No | □ Yes | 🗆 No | □ Yes |

Years of Seniority Hours per Week Age ____ Gender Height ____ Weight

Part Time \Box or Full Time \Box Female
Male



Back View

ENDNOTES

- Joanne O. Crawford, "The Nordic Musculoskeletal Questionnaire," Occupational Medicine 57, no. 4 (June 2007): 300-301, doi:10.1093/occmed/kqm036; I. Kuorinka, B. Jonsson, A. Kilbom, H. Vinterberg, F. Biering-Sorensen, G. Andersson, and K. Jorgensen, "Standardised Nordic questionnaires for the analysis of musculoskeletal symptoms," Applied Ergonomics 18, no. 3 (September 1987): 233-237, doi:10.1016/0003-6870(87)90010-X.
- 2. Bo Netterstrom, and Knud Juel, "Low Back Trouble among Urban Bus Drivers in Denmark," Scandinavian Journal of Social Medicine 17, no. 2 (1989): 203-206.
- 3. Massimo Bovenzi, and Antonietta Zadini, "Self-Reported Low Back Symptoms in Urban Bus Drivers Exposed to Whole-Body Vibration," Spine 17, no. 9 (September 1992): 1048-1059, doi:10.1097/00007632-199209000-00007.
- 4. Robert Anderson, "The Back Pain of Bus Drivers. Prevalence in an Urban Area of California," Spine 17, no. 12 (December 1992): 1481-1488.
- 5. Marianne L. Magnusson, Malcom H. Pope, David G. Wilder, and Bjorn Areskoug, "Are Occupational Drivers at an Increased Risk for Developing Musculoskeletal Disorders?" Spine 21, no. 6 (March 1996): 710-717.
- C. A. Lewis, and P. W. Johnson, "Whole-body vibration exposure in metropolitan bus drivers," Occupational Medicine 62, no. 7 (October 2012): 519-524, doi:10.1093/ occmed/kqs096.
- Per M. G. Jonsson, Patrik W. Rynell, Mats Hagberg, and Peter W. Johnson, "Comparison of whole-body vibration exposures in buses: effects and interactions of bus and seat design," Ergonomics 58, no. 7 (October 2014): 1133-1142, doi:10.1080 /00140139.2014.961568.
- Ornwipa Thamsuwan, Ryan P. Blood, Randal P. Ching, Linda Boyle, and Peter W. Johnson, "Whole body vibration exposures in bus drivers: A comparison between a high-floor coach and a low-floor city bus," International Journal of Industrial Ergonomics 43, no. 1 (January 2013): 9-17, doi:10.1016/j.ergon.2012.10.003.
- R. P. Blood, J. D. Ploger, M. G. Yost, R. P. Ching, and P. W. Johnson, "Whole body vibration exposures in metropolitan bus drivers: A comparison of three seats," Journal of Sound and Vibration 329, no. 1 (January 2010): 109-120, doi:10.1016/j. jsv.2009.08.030.
- Chia Wei, Susan G. Gerberich, Andrew D. Ryan, Bruce H. Alexander, Timothy R. Church, and Michael Manser, "Risk factors for unintentional occupational injury among urban transit bus drivers: a cohort longitudinal study," Annals of Epidemiology 27, no. 12 (December 2017): 763-770, doi:10.1016/j.annepidem.2017.09.011.

- Shamsul Bahri M. Tamrin, Kazuhito Yokoyama, Nasaruddin Aziz, and Setsuo Maeda, "Association of Risk Factors with Musculoskeletal Disorders among Male Commercial Bus Drivers in Malaysia," Human Factors and Ergonomics in Manufacturing & Service Industries 24, no. 4 (April 2012): 369-385, doi:10.1002/hfm.20387.
- Aderonke Omobonike Akinpelu, Olufemi Oyeleye Oyewole, Adesola C. Odole, and R. O. Olukoya, "Prevalence of Musculoskeletal Pain and Health Seeking Behaviour among Occupational Drivers in Ibadan, Nigeria," African Journal Biomedical Research 14 (May 2011): 89-94.
- Gracy P. Y. Szeto, and Peggo Lam, "Work-related Musculoskeletal Disorders in Urban Bus Drivers of Hong Kong," Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation 17, no. 2 (June 2007): 181-198, doi:10.1007/s10926-007-9070-7.
- Deborah Alperovitch-Najenson, Yoav Santo, Youssef Masharawi, Michal Katz-Leurer, Diana Ushvaev, and Leonid Kalichman, "Low Back Pain among Professional Bus Drivers: Ergonomic and Occupational-Psychosocial Risk Factors," Israel Medical Association Journal 12, no. 1 (January 2010): 26-31.
- Marilyn A. Winkleby, David R. Ragland, June M. Fisher, and S. Leonard Syme, "Excess Risk of Sickness and Disease in Bus Drivers: A Review and Synthesis of Epidemiological Studies," International Journal of Epidemiology 17, no. 2 (June 1988): 255-262.
- 16. Gary W. Evans, and Sybil Carrere, "Traffic Congestion, Perceived Control, and Psychophysiological Stress Among Urban Bus Drivers," Journal of Applied Psychology 76, No. 5 (1991): 658-663, doi:10.1037/0021-9010.76.5.658.
- Cheryl L. Albright, Marilyn A. Winkleby, David R. Ragland, June Fisher, and S. Leonard Syme, "Job Strain and Prevalence of Hypertension in a Biracial Population of Urban Bus Drivers," American Journal of Public Health 82, no. 7 (July 1992): 984-989, doi:10.2105/AJPH.82.7.984.
- Gunnar Aronsson, and Anita Rissler, "Psychophysiological Stress Reactions in Female and Male Urban Bus Drivers," Journal of Occupational Health Psychology 3, No. 2 (1998): 122-129, doi:10.1037/1076-8998.3.2.122.
- 19. Paul T. Bartone, "Predictors of Stress-Related Illness in City Bus Drivers," Journal of Occupational Medicine 31, No. 8 (August 1989): 657-663, doi:10.1097/00043764-198908000-00008.
- 20. Tom Kontogiannis, "Patterns of driver stress and coping strategies in a Greek sample and their relationship to aberrant behaviors and traffic accidents," Accident Analysis & Prevention 38, No. 5 (September 2006): 913-924, doi:10.1016/j.aap.2006.03.002.

- 21. Boris Cendales-Ayala, Sergio Alejandro Useche, Viviola Gomez-Ortiz, and Juan Pablo Bocarejo, "Bus Operators' Responses to Job Strain: An Experimental Test of the Job Demand-Control Model," Journal of Occupational Health Psychology 22, No. 4 (May 2016): 518-527, doi:10.1037/ocp0000040; Sergio A. Useche, Viviola Gomez-Ortiz, and Boris E. Cendales, "Stress-related psychosocial factors at work, fatigue, and risky driving behavior in bus rapid transport (BRT) drivers," Accident Analysis and Prevention 104 (July 2017): 106-114, doi:10.1016/j.aap.2017.04.023; Luis Montoro, Sergio Useche, Francisco Alonso, and Boris Cendales, "Work Environment, Stress, and Driving Anger: A Structural Equation Model for Predicting Traffic Sanctions of Public Transport Drivers," International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health 15, no. 2 (March 2018): E497, doi:10.3390/ijerph15030497.
- 22. Ching-Fu Chen, and Ya-Ling Kao, "The connection between the hassles-burnout relationship, as moderated by coping, and aberrant behaviors and health problems among bus drivers," Accident Analysis and Prevention 53 (April 2013): 105-111, doi:10.1016/j.aap.2013.01.004.
- Taeko Sasai-Sakuma, Katsunori Kikuchi, and Yuichi Inoue, "Cross-Sectional Study of Obstructive Sleep Apnea Syndrome in Japanese Public Transportation Drivers," Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine 58, no. 5 (May 2016): 455-458, doi:10.1097/JOM.00000000000692.
- 24. Anna Anund, Jonas Ihlstrom, Carina Fors, Goran Kecklund, and Ashleigh Filtness, "Factors associated with self-reported driver sleepiness and incidents in city bus drivers," Industrial Health 54 (2016): 337-346, doi:10.2486/indhealth.2015-0217.
- 25. Anna Anund, Carina Fors, Jonas Ihlstrom, and Goran Kecklund, "An on-road study of sleepiness in split shifts among city bus drivers," Accident Analysis and Prevention 114 (May 2018): 71-76, doi:10.1016/j.aap.2017.05.005.
- 26. Jelica Davidovic, Dalibor Pesic, and Boris Antic, "Professional drivers' fatigue as a problem of the modern era," Transportation Research Part F 55 (May 2018): 199-209, doi:10.1016/j.trf.2018.03.010.
- 27. John L. M. Tse, Rhona Flin, and Kathryn Mearns, "Bus driver well-being review: 50 years of research," Transportation Research Part F 9, no. 2 (2006): 89-114, doi:10.1016/j.trf.2005.10.002.
- Alexander M. Crizzle, Philip Bigelow, Diane Adams, Spencer Gooderham, Anita M. Myers, and Pierre Thiffault, "Health and wellness of long-haul truck and bus drivers: A systematic literature review and directions for future research," Journal of Transport & Health 7A (December 2017): 90-109, doi:10.1016/j.jth.2017.05.359.
- 29. Michiel A. J. Kompier, and Vittorio Di Martino, "Review of bus drivers' occupational stress and stress prevention," Stress Medicine 11, no. 1 (January 1995): 253-262, doi:10.1002/smi.2460110141.

- 30. Robin M. Gillespie, Andrew Krum, Darrell Bowman, Stephanie Baker, and Michael Belzer, "Bus Operator Workstation Design for Improving Occupational Health and Safety," Transportation Research Board (2016).
- 31. Olanrewaju O. Okunribido, Steven J. Shimbles, Marianne Magnusson, and Malcolm Pope, "City bus driving and low back pain: A study of the exposures to posture demands, manual materials handling and whole-body vibration," Applied Ergonomics 38, no. 1 (January 2007): 29-38, doi:10.1016/j.apergo.2006.01.006; Sandul Yasobant, Madhan Chandran, and Endreddy Manikanta Reddy, "Are Bus Drivers at an Increased Risk for Developing Musculoskeletal Disorders? An Ergonomic Risk Assessment Study," Journal of Ergonomics S3, no. 11 (May 2015): 1-5, doi:10.4172/2165-7556.S3-011.
- 32. Katherine J. Gregersen, "Cost-Effectiveness of Driver Seat Alternatives for King County Metro Buses" (master's thesis, University of Washington, 2015).
- 33. Brian Sherlock to author, June 21, 2018.
- 34. Ibid.
- 35. Gracy P. Y. Szeto, and Peggo Lam, "Work-related Musculoskeletal Disorders in Urban Bus Drivers of Hong Kong," Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation 17, no. 2 (June 2007): 181-198, doi:10.1007/s10926-007-9070-7.
- 36. Sandul Yasobant, Madhan Chandran, and Endreddy Manikanta Reddy, "Are Bus Drivers at an Increased Risk for Developing Musculoskeletal Disorders? An Ergonomic Risk Assessment Study," Journal of Ergonomics S3, no. 11 (May 2015): 1-5, doi:10.4172/2165-7556.S3-011; Marianne L. Magnusson, Malcom H. Pope, David G. Wilder, and Bjorn Areskoug, "Are Occupational Drivers at an Increased Risk for Developing Musculoskeletal Disorders?" Spine 21, no. 6 (March 1996): 710-717; Deborah Alperovitch-Najenson, Yoav Santo, Youssef Masharawi, Michal Katz-Leurer, Diana Ushvaev, and Leonid Kalichman, "Low Back Pain among Professional Bus Drivers: Ergonomic and Occupational-Psychosocial Risk Factors," Israel Medical Association Journal 12, no. 1 (January 2010): 26-31.
- Chia Wei, Susan G. Gerberich, Andrew D. Ryan, Bruce H. Alexander, Timothy R. Church, and Michael Manser, "Risk factors for unintentional occupational injury among urban transit bus drivers: a cohort longitudinal study," Annals of Epidemiology 27, no. 12 (December 2017): 763-770, doi:10.1016/j.annepidem.2017.09.011.
- Deborah Alperovitch-Najenson, Yoav Santo, Youssef Masharawi, Michal Katz-Leurer, Diana Ushvaev, and Leonid Kalichman, "Low Back Pain among Professional Bus Drivers: Ergonomic and Occupational-Psychosocial Risk Factors," Israel Medical Association Journal 12, no. 1 (January 2010): 26-31.
- 39. Katherine J. Gregersen, "Cost-Effectiveness of Driver Seat Alternatives for King County Metro Buses" (master's thesis, University of Washington, 2015).

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Albright, Cheryl L., Marilyn A. Winkleby, David R. Ragland, June Fisher, and S. Leonard Syme. "Job Strain and Prevalence of Hypertension in a Biracial Population of Urban Bus Drivers." American Journal of Public Health 82, no. 7 (July 1992): 984-989. doi:10.2105/AJPH.82.7.984.
- Alperovitch-Najenson, Deborah, Yoav Santo, Youssef Masharawi, Michal Katz-Leurer, Diana Ushvaev, and Leonid Kalichman. "Low Back Pain among Professional Bus Drivers: Ergonomic and Occupational-Psychosocial Risk Factors." Israel Medical Association Journal 12, no. 1 (January 2010): 26-31.
- Akinpelu, Aderonke Omobonike, Olufemi Oyeleye Oyewole, Adesola C. Odole, and R.
 O. Olukoya. "Prevalence of Musculoskeletal Pain and Health Seeking Behaviour among Occupational Drivers in Ibadan, Nigeria." African Journal Biomedical Research 14 (May 2011): 89-94.
- Anderson, Robert. "The Back Pain of Bus Drivers. Prevalence in an Urban Area of California." Spine 17, no. 12 (December 1992): 1481-1488.
- Anund, Anna, Carina Fors, Jonas Ihlstrom, and Goran Kecklund. "An on-road study of sleepiness in split shifts among city bus drivers." Accident Analysis and Prevention 114 (May 2018): 71-76. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2017.05.005
- Anund, Anna, Jonas Ihlstrom, Carina Fors, Goran Kecklund, and Ashleigh Filtness. "Factors associated with self-reported driver sleepiness and incidents in city bus drivers." Industrial Health 54 (2016): 337-346. doi:10.2486/indhealth.2015-0217
- Aronsson, Gunnar, and Anita Rissler. "Psychophysiological Stress Reactions in Female and Male Urban Bus Drivers." Journal of Occupational Health Psychology 3, No. 2 (1998): 122-129. doi:10.1037/1076-8998.3.2.122
- Bartone, Paul T. "Predictors of Stress-Related Illness in City Bus Drivers." Journal of Occupational Medicine 31, No. 8 (August 1989): 657-663. doi:10.1097/00043764-198908000-00008
- Blood, R. P., J. D. Ploger, M. G. Yost, R. P. Ching, and P. W. Johnson. "Whole body vibration exposures in metropolitan bus drivers: A comparison of three seats." Journal of Sound and Vibration 329, no. 1 (January 2010): 109-120. doi:10.1016/j. jsv.2009.08.030
- Bovenzi, Massimo, and Antonietta Zadini. "Self-Reported Low Back Symptoms in Urban Bus Drivers Exposed to Whole-Body Vibration." Spine 17, no. 9 (September 1992): 1048-1059. doi:10.1097/00007632-199209000-00007

- Cendales-Ayala, Boris, Sergio Alejandro Useche, Viviola Gomez-Ortiz, and Juan Pablo Bocarejo. "Bus Operators' Responses to Job Strain: An Experimental Test of the Job Demand-Control Model." Journal of Occupational Health Psychology 22, No. 4 (May 2016): 518-527. doi:10.1037/ocp0000040
- Chen, Ching-Fu and Ya-Ling Kao. "The connection between the hassles-burnout relationship, as moderated by coping, and aberrant behaviors and health problems among bus drivers." Accident Analysis and Prevention 53 (April 2013): 105-111. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2013.01.004
- Clarke, Tainya C., Richard L. Nahin, Patricia M. Barnes, and Barbara J. Stussman. "Use of Complementary Health Approaches for Musculoskeletal Pain Disorders Among Adults: United States, 2012," National Health Statistics Reports (October 2016).
- Crawford, Joanne O. "The Nordic Musculoskeletal Questionnaire." Occupational Medicine 57, no. 4 (June 2007): 300-301. doi:10.1093/occmed/kqm036
- Crizzle, Alexander M., Philip Bigelow, Diane Adams, Spencer Gooderham, Anita M. Myers, and Pierre Thiffault. "Health and wellness of long-haul truck and bus drivers: A systematic literature review and directions for future research." Journal of Transport & Health 7A (December 2017): 90-109. doi:10.1016/j.jth.2017.05.359
- Davidovic, Jelica, Dalibor Pesic, and Boris Antic. "Professional drivers' fatigue as a problem of the modern era," Transportation Research Part F 55 (May 2018): 199-209. doi:10.1016/j.trf.2018.03.010
- Evans, Gary W., and Sybil Carrere. "Traffic Congestion, Perceived Control, and Psychophysiological Stress Among Urban Bus Drivers." Journal of Applied Psychology 76, No. 5 (1991): 658-663. doi:10.1037/0021-9010.76.5.658
- Gillespie, Robin M., Andrew Krum, Darrell Bowman, Stephanie Baker, and Michael Belzer. "Bus Operator Workstation Design for Improving Occupational Health and Safety." Washington, DC: Transportation Research Board, 2016.
- Gregersen, Katherine J. "Cost-Effectiveness of Driver Seat Alternatives for King County Metro Buses." Master's thesis, University of Washington, 2015. Accessed July 26, 2018. https://digital.lib.washington.edu/researchworks/bitstream/ handle/1773/33842/Gregersen_washington_02500_15029.pdf?sequence=1
- Kompier, Michiel A. J., and Vittorio Di Martino. "Review of bus drivers' occupational stress and stress prevention." Stress Medicine 11, no. 1 (January 1995): 253-262. doi:10.1002/smi.2460110141
- Kontogiannis, Tom. "Patterns of driver stress and coping strategies in a Greek sample and their relationship to aberrant behaviors and traffic accidents." Accident Analysis & Prevention 38, No. 5 (September 2006): 913-924. doi:10.1016/j. aap.2006.03.002

- Kuorinka, I., B. Jonsson, A. Kilbom, H. Vinterberg, F. Biering-Sorensen, G. Andersson, and K. Jorgensen. "Standardised Nordic questionnaires for the analysis of musculoskeletal symptoms." Applied Ergonomics 18, no. 3 (September 1987): 233-237. doi:10.1016/0003-6870(87)90010-X
- Jonsson, Per M. G., Patrik W. Rynell, Mats Hagberg, and Peter W. Johnson. "Comparison of whole-body vibration exposures in buses: effects and interactions of bus and seat design." Ergonomics 58, no. 7 (October 2014): 1133-1142. doi:10. 1080/00140139.2014.961568
- Lewis, C. A., and P. W. Johnson. "Whole-body vibration exposure in metropolitan bus drivers." Occupational Medicine 62, no. 7 (October 2012): 519-524. doi:10.1093/ occmed/kqs096
- Magnusson, Marianne L., Malcom H. Pope, David G. Wilder, and Bjorn Areskoug. "Are Occupational Drivers at an Increased Risk for Developing Musculoskeletal Disorders?" Spine 21, no. 6 (March 1996): 710-717.
- Montoro, Luis, Sergio Useche, Francisco Alonso, and Boris Cendales. "Work Environment, Stress, and Driving Anger: A Structural Equation Model for Predicting Traffic Sanctions of Public Transport Drivers." International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health 15, no. 2 (March 2018): E497. doi:10.3390/ijerph15030497.
- Mulders, Henny, Theo Meijman, Bert Mulder, Michiel Kompier, Sjaak Broersen, Ben Westerink and Jim O'Hanlon. "Occupational stress in city bus drivers." Road user behaviour: theory and research: 348-358.
- Netterstrom, Bo, and Knud Juel. "Low Back Trouble among Urban Bus Drivers in Denmark." Scandinavian Journal of Social Medicine 17, no. 2 (1989): 203-206.
- Okunribido, Olanrewaju O., Steven J. Shimbles, Marianne Magnusson, and Malcolm Pope. "City bus driving and low back pain: A study of the exposures to posture demands, manual materials handling and whole-body vibration." Applied Ergonomics 38, no. 1 (January 2007): 29-38. doi:10.1016/j.apergo.2006.01.006
- Sasai-Sakuma, Taeko, Katsunori Kikuchi, and Yuichi Inoue. "Cross-Sectional Study of Obstructive Sleep Apnea Syndrome in Japanese Public Transportation Drivers." Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine 58, no. 5 (May 2016): 455-458. doi:10.1097/JOM.0000000000000692
- Szeto, Gracy P. Y., and Peggo Lam. "Work-related Musculoskeletal Disorders in Urban Bus Drivers of Hong Kong." Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation 17, no. 2 (June 2007): 181-198. doi:10.1007/s10926-007-9070-7

- Tamrin, Shamsul Bahri M., Kazuhito Yokoyama, Nasaruddin Aziz, and Setsuo Maeda.
 "Association of Risk Factors with Musculoskeletal Disorders among Male Commercial Bus Drivers in Malaysia." Human Factors and Ergonomics in Manufacturing & Service Industries 24, no. 4 (April 2012): 369-385. doi:10.1002/ hfm.20387
- Thamsuwan, Ornwipa, Ryan P. Blood, Randal P. Ching, Linda Boyle, and Peter W. Johnson. "Whole body vibration exposures in bus drivers: A comparison between a high-floor coach and a low-floor city bus." International Journal of Industrial Ergonomics 43, no. 1 (January 2013): 9-17. doi:10.1016/j.ergon.2012.10.003
- Tse, John L. M., Rhona Flin, and Kathryn Mearns. "Bus driver well-being review: 50 years of research." Transportation Research Part F 9, no. 2 (2006): 89-114. doi:10.1016/j.trf.2005.10.002
- Useche, Sergio A., Viviola Gomez-Ortiz, and Boris E. Cendales. "Stress-related psychosocial factors at work, fatigue, and risky driving behavior in bus rapid transport (BRT) drivers." Accident Analysis and Prevention 104 (July 2017): 106-114. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2017.04.023
- Wei, Chia, Susan G. Gerberich, Andrew D. Ryan, Bruce H. Alexander, Timothy R. Church, and Michael Manser. "Risk factors for unintentional occupational injury among urban transit bus drivers: a cohort longitudinal study." Annals of Epidemiology 27, no. 12 (December 2017): 763-770. doi:10.1016/j. annepidem.2017.09.011
- Winkleby, Marilyn A., David R. Ragland, June M. Fisher, and S. Leonard Syme. "Excess Risk of Sickness and Disease in Bus Drivers: A Review and Synthesis of Epidemiological Studies." International Journal of Epidemiology 17, no. 2 (June 1988): 255-262.
- Yasobant, Sandul, Madhan Chandran, and Endreddy Manikanta Reddy. "Are Bus Drivers at an Increased Risk for Developing Musculoskeletal Disorders? An Ergonomic Risk Assessment Study." Journal of Ergonomics S3, no. 11 (May 2015): 1-5. doi:10.4172/2165-7556.S3-011.

ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS

| BMI | Body Mass Index |
|------|--|
| CDC | Centers for Disease Control and Prevention |
| MSD | Musculoskeletal Disorder |
| TCRP | Transit Cooperative Research Program |
| WBV | Whole-Body Vibration |

ABOUT THE AUTHOR

JEREMY STEELE

Jeremy Steele is currently in his final year of pursuing an undergraduate degree in Geography (Urban Systems) and Software Engineering at McGill University in Montréal, Canada. He works as an independent contractor for MTI, after having completed a summer internship there in 2018. His research interests lie in urban transportation planning, specifically in areas including route design, accessibility, and ease of use for riders.

PEER REVIEW

San José State University, of the California State University system, and the MTI Board of Trustees have agreed upon a peer review process required for all research published by MTI. The purpose of the review process is to ensure that the results presented are based upon a professionally acceptable research protocol.

MTI FOUNDER

Hon. Norman Y. Mineta

MTI BOARD OF TRUSTEES

Founder, Honorable Norman Mineta (Ex-Officio) Secretary (ret.), US Department of Transportation Vice Chair Hill & Knowlton, Inc.

Honorary Chair, Honorable Bill Shuster (Ex-Officio) Chair House Transportation and Infrastructure Committee United States House of Representatives

Honorary Co-Chair, Honorable Peter DeFazio (Ex-Officio) Vice Chair House Transportation and Infrastructure Committee United States House of Representatives

Chair, Grace Crunican (**TE 2019**) General Manager Bay Area Rapid Transit District (BART)

Vice Chair, Abbas Mohaddes (TE 2018) President & COO Econolite Group Inc.

Executive Director, Karen Philbrick, Ph.D. (Ex-Officio) Mineta Transportation Institute San José State University Richard Anderson (Ex-Officio) President and CEO Amtrak

Laurie Berman (Ex-Officio) Director California Department of Transportation

Donna DeMartino (TE 2018) General Manager and CEO San Joaquin Regional Transit District

Mortimer Downey* (TE 2018) President Mort Downey Consulting, LLC

Nuria Fernandez* (TE 2020) General Manager & CEO Santa Clara Valley Transportation Authority

John Flaherty (TE 2020) Senior Fellow Silicon Valley American Leadership Forum

Rose Guilbault (TE 2020) Board Member Peninsula Corridor Joint Powers Board

Ed Hamberger (Ex-Officio) President & CEO Association of American Railroads Steve Heminger* (TE 2018) Executive Director Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC)

Diane Woodend Jones (TE 2019) Principal & Chair of Board Lea + Elliot, Inc.

Will Kempton (TE 2019) Retired

Art Leahy (TE 2018) CEO Metrolink

Jean-Pierre Loubinoux (Ex-Officio) Director General International Union of Railways (UIC)

Bradley Mims (TE 2020) President & CEO Conference of Minority Transportation Officials (COMTO)

Jeff Morales (TE 2019) Managing Principal InfraStrategies, LLC

Dan Moshavi, Ph.D. (Ex-Officio) Dean Lucas College and Graduate School of Business San José State University Dan Smith (TE 2020) President Capstone Financial Group, Inc.

Paul Skoutelas (Ex-Officio) President & CEO American Public Transportation Authority (APTA)

Beverley Swaim-Staley (TE 2019) President Union Station Redevelopment Corporation

Larry Willis (Ex-Officio) President Transportation Trades Dept., AFL-CIO

Bud Wright (Ex-Officio) Executive Director American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO)

(TE) = Term Expiration * = Past Chair, Board of Trustees

Directors

Karen Philbrick, Ph.D. Executive Director

Asha Weinstein Agrawal, Ph.D. Education Director National Transportation Finance Center Director

Hilary Nixon, Ph.D. Research & Technology Transfer Director

Brian Michael Jenkins National Transportation Security Center Director

Research Associates Policy Oversight Committee

Jan Botha, Ph.D. Civil & Environmental Engineering San José State University

Katherine Kao Cushing, Ph.D. Enviromental Science San José State University

Dave Czerwinski, Ph.D. Marketing and Decision Science San José State University

Frances Edwards, Ph.D. Political Science San José State University **Taeho Park, Ph.D.** Organization and Management San José State University

Christa Bailey Martin Luther King, Jr. Library San José State University

